IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

*

*

*

*

*

MAR 4 1985

S'D J. WHITE

FIT.

CASE NO.: 65,279

CLERA SUPREME COURT 12 min 5 By Chief Deputy Clerk

MELVIN NELSON, JR.

APPELLANT,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

APPELLEE,

t.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

ROBERT H. DILLINGER DILLINGER & SWISHER, P.A. 5511 Central Avenue St. Petersburg, Florida 33710 (813) 343-0132

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 24, 1982, a Pinellas County Grand Jury returned an indictment charging the Defendant MELVIN NELSON, JR. with murder in the first degree, robbery, and burglary. (R-17,18). The Defendant entered his plea of Not Guilty (R-28) and .trial was originally scheduled in this cause for January 3, 1984. (R-56). Because of speedy trial, problems resulting from the extradition of the Defendant, the trial was reset to December (R-224). The trial began on the 13th and ended on 13th. December 17, 1983 with a guilty as charged to all counts. (R-294-296). On Monday, December 19th, the jury, after hearing the presentation recommended a life sentence. (R-305). On April 11, 1984, the trial court overrode the jury's verdict and sentenced the Defendant to death on the murder in the first degree charge; to a sixty (60) year sentence on the burglary, to run consecutive to the murder charge; and, a sixty (60) year sentence with a retention of jurisdiction on the robbery charge, also to be consecutive to the burglary charge. (R-333-339). Defendant's Motion for New Trial was denied (R-328), and a Notice of Appeal was timely filed. (R-348).

(1)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The victim, Waldimir Baskovich, and his family moved to Clearwater, Florida from Gary, Indiana some twenty (20) years ago. (R-868). Mr. Baskovich was a local restauranteur. (R-864, 874a).

The victim's wife, Faye Baskovich, testified that around 7:20 p.m. on April 20, 1982, she and her husband were in the family room of their home at the corner of Magnolia and Duncan Street in Clearwater, Florida. Two men wearing hats and rubber surgical gloves and carrying weapons entered the room. (R-713). One of the men took her to a bathroom (R-714) and the other man took her husband to the bedroom. (R-715). After a short period of time, she heard two (2) soft gunshots. (R-716). The men took items of jewelry and money from her house (R-719), had her lay on the floor, and hit her. (R-721). After the men left, she made a phone call to the operator in order to get the police. (R-722). The victim was found at the house by the paramedics to be unconscious with powder burns at the back of his head. (R-751). The emergency room physician pronounced the victim dead. (R-756).

A neighbor testified that at 7:30 p.m. on the day of the murder she saw two (2) black men arguing in a car parked near her house, which car was later determined to match the description of the vehicle rented by the Co-Defendant Echols. (R-759).

(2)

Later that evening, neighbors found various items taken from the victim's residence including a blue bag, a jewelry box and the victim's wallet. (R-778,786,790,812). Another person also found a gun, which was later to be determined to be consistent with the murder weapon (R-804) and which was later shown to be stolen from a liquor store in Indiana in 1972. (R-915).

Later, investigation by the police determined that a Robert Echols had rented a vehicle at Tampa Airport on the day of the homicide and that the renter returned the vehicle on the same day with fifty-eight (58) miles on the odometer. (R-950,956,966) Investigation also revealed that there were phone records between Mr. Echols and the victim's brother-in-law both before the offense, the day of the offense, and after the offense. (R-919, 938).

The State also introduced the testimony of witness, Leonard Adams, Echols' son-in-law, who indicated that he had had numerous conversations with Mr. Echols regarding the homicide in Clearwater, Florida. The testimony of Leonard Adams involved a tape recording made in Mr. Echols' home, non-recorded statements made at various points around Gary, Indiana, and another tape recorded statement made at the request of the Indiana State Police. (R-1167,1248,1340). The State introduced several experts who testified that a fingerprint of the Defendant MELVIN NELSON, JR. was found on the jewelry box which was removed from the victim's home. (R-1010,1033).

(3)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Defendant raises the following points:

I. The State was allowed to offer an incriminating statement made by a Co-Defendant who was not present or available to testify against the Defendant in the Defendant's trial. The State argued that the statement was a declaration against penal interest and was thus allowed. Under Florida law this is incorrect since the legislature specifically provided in Florida Statute 90.804(2)(c) that this type of statement was prohibited. The specific sentence added by the Florida legislative to the statement against interest paragraph reads as follows:

> A statement or confession which is offered against the accused in a criminal action, and which is made by a Co-Defendant or other person implicating both himself and the accused, is not within this section.

The statement was made by a Co-Defendant and implicated the Defendant. It clearly should not have been admitted and it was harmful and prejudicial to the Defendant.

II. The second point involves statements implicating the Defendant, which statements were admitted under the coconspirator exception to the hearsay rule. While there was evidence showing a conspiracy between Defendant Echols and Dragovitch, Defendants who were tried separately, there was no independent proof of the Defendant NELSON's involvement. The record shows that the Defendant NELSON was not even available

(4)

physically until eight (8) days before the murder. The evidence shows that Echols and Dragovitch had been planning the homicide for a long period of time. Defendant NELSON was not involved in any of the prior attempts or the prior planning. The evidence against the Defendant NELSON was a fingerprint on a box taken from the house and a neighbor who saw two (2) black males arguing in the victim's white neighborhood after the crime. There simply was no evidence of the involvement of the Defendant in a conspiracy and the law is clear that being an aider and abettor is not evidence of being a co-conspirator.

III. The Defendant's next point involves the procedure used at trial regarding the transcripts made of the two taped statements of the Co-Defendant. The judge allowed each juror to have a copy during the playing of the tape and during the examination of the witnesses regarding the tape. The trial court also allowed a procedure wherein the witness would testify to the contents of the tape, the tape would be played and then the State would go over the transcript of the tape page by page. This procedure violated the rules involving the use of transcripts of tape recordings and the rules against under repetition and improper influence.

IV. The fourth argument regarding guilt phase was the error in closing agument when the prosecution argued that "to acquit the Defendant was to give the Defendant a license to kill". There were also several comments on the Defendant not testifying.

(5)

V. In penalty phase, the question is whether the jury override was proper. The jury found the Defendant guilty of felony murder and even wrote it on their verdict form. Implicit in the evidence and the finding of the jury was that the Defendant was not the triggerman and was not preent in the room wehen the victim was killed. The trial court found the jury's verdict as to felony murder was a legal nullity. The trial court also considered numerous non-statutory aggravating circumstances including but not limited to non-violent crimes, declaring the Defendant a menace, not rehabilitatable and a person who showed no remorse or compassion for the victim. Many of the trial court's findings resulted from a letter from the psychiatrist which was submitted as a response to the prosecutor's letter to the doctor. The doctor's letter refers to a lengthy report from the sentencing memorandum which the prosecutor apparently sent to the doctor. The doctor's conclusions are based on the report. There is no copy of the report sent to the doctor in the record and no copy was made available to the Defendant. This doctor's examination also was done without the benefit of Miranda.

(6)

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE TAPED STATEMENT (TAPE #1) INTO EVIDENCE AGAINST THE DEFENDANT NELSON.

The State, over the objection of the Defendant, introduced a taped statement between an informant - Leonard Adams and Co-Defendant Echols. The State predicated this admission as a statement against interest and thus an exception to hearsay under Florida Statute 90.804(2)(c). (R-1119). It was undisputed that the Defendant NELSON was not present during this conversation.

Florida Statute 90.804(2)(c) reads as follows:

Statement against interest. -- A (C) statement which, at the time of its making, was so far contrary to the declarant's pecuniary or proprietary interest or tended to subject him to liability or to render invalid a claim by him against another, so that a person in the declarant's position would not have made the statement unless he believed it to be true. A statement tending to expose the declarant to criminal liability offered to exculpate the accused is and inadmissible, unless corroborating circumstances show the trustworthiness of the statement. A statement or confession which is offered against the accused in a criminal action, and which is made by a codefendant or other person implicating both himself and the accused, is not within this exception.

The State showed that Co-Defendant Echols was not available (R-1079) and then indicated that in light of Echols not being available that the statement under the Florida law can thus

(7)

come in. The State cites some Federal cases on the subject (R-1125) and then represents to the Court that the addition of the last sentence in the Florida Statute - the <u>Bruton</u> aspect - was meant to <u>narrow</u> the interpretation under the Federal Rules. (R-1123-24).

The Florida addition of the Bruton section was clearly meant to expand the federal interpretation of declaration against penal interest. See Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence, 2nd Edition at page 560. The Federal Rules do not include the last sentence which appears in the Florida Rules. The addition of that wording of -- "A statement or confession which is offered against the accused in a criminal action, and which is made by a Co-Defendant or other person implicating both himself and the accused, is not within this exception" - was clearly added to prevent the precise situation which occurred here. Clearly the Defendant NELSON could not cross-examine the Co-Defendant Echols since Echols invoked the 5th Amendment. The statements made by the Co-Defendant Echols clearly implicated the Defendant NELSON. The statements introduced showed that the Defendant Echols and his partner did the killing. Defendant NELSON is on trial for being the partner of Defendant Echols. The State's assertiion that because the Defendant NELSON is not directly named he is not directly implicated (R-1123,1125), is without merit. It is "highly likely", in fact, it is the only plausible conclusion, that Defendant NELSON was the "other" person named and

(8)

incriminated by the statements in Tape 1. See State v. Williams, 554 P2d 646 (Ariz. 1976); Cook v. State, 353 So.2d 911 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977); Mims v. State, 367 So.2d 706 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979). This conclusion is particularly inescapable when viewed in light of the manner in which the evidence was presented at trial. When the State called the informant - Leonard Adams, to the stand, the Court asked the State if the State was going to introduce both statements of Adams before it introduced the tape.(1) The State responded affirmatively and proceded in that manner. During direct examination and before the tape was played the State elicited that Echols had said that he and a friend went and shot the guy (R-1236) and that they had to leave her alive (R-1238). The State then elicits from a later conversation that the other participant is Defendant NELSON. After this is elicited the tape is played. (R-1248). Following this the State, still on direct of Adams, goes through the transcript of the tape wherein they elicit the following:

they conked her on the head (R-1258)
 they didn't find any money (R-1259)
 whatever they found in the house (R-1259)
This was all done on direct and clearly was done to implicate the
Defendant NELSON as being the other person.

(1) The statements were initially divided for the purpose of argument into the Tape 1 group and then the non-taped statements which directly identified the Defendant NELSON.

The sponsor's notes to the Florida Rules of Evidence regarding the declaration against penal interest clearly indicate that "this subsection could not make admissible against a criminal defendant statements which violated his right of confrontation". Defendant NELSON clearly could not confront the Co-Defendant Echols' statements and thus the admission of that first tape which clearly implicated Defendant NELSON was error. See also 4 Louisell and Mueller, Federal Evidence at 977, 1004-5, 1182.

This Court has confronted this issue before in <u>Hall v.</u> <u>State</u>, 381 So.2d 683 (Fla. 1980). This case was never cited to the trial court. In <u>Hall</u>, this Court stated the following at 687:

> The fact that the defendants here [3] were tried separately rather than jointly does not vitiate the constitutional infirmity. The crux of a Bruton violation is the introduction of statements which incriminate an accused without affording him opportunity to cross-examine the an declarant. It is immaterial whether denial this opportunity of occurs because the statements are introduced through the testimony of a third party or because the speaker takes the stand and refuses to answer questions concerning the statements.

The Court in Hall further noted (at 689):

The policy reason for this holding is apparent. Ιf the defendant has an opportunity to cross-examine the codefendant he may be able to develop facts which will convince the trier of fact that the prior statements were false. Where, as here, the invocation of his codefendant's fifth amendment privilege precludes such

questioning by the defendant, the principles of Bruton and Douglas have been violated. Accord, <u>Hill v. State</u>, 330 So.2d 487 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976).

In this instance, the principles of <u>Bruton</u> were clearly violated and the evidence code iteself was likewise violated. The error was substantial and mandates reversal here as it did in <u>Hall</u>.

ARGUMENT

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATEMENTS FOLLOWING TAPE 1 INTO EVIDENCE ON THE BASIS THAT THEY WERE STATEMENTS OF A CO-CONSPIRATOR.

The State in its arguments as to the statements of Echols clearly represented that the statements of the Co-Defendant Echols on tape 1 were being offered on the basis of the exception of declaraton against penal interest and that the subsequent statements - both non-taped and taped (Tape #2) - were being offered as co-conspirator statements. (R-1131). The State never justified the admission of the post tape 1 statements on any other ground.

In Section 5.03(7)(a) of Model Penal Code conspiracy is defined as follows:

Conspiracy is a continuing course of conduct which terminates when the crime or crimes which are its objects are committed or the agreement that they be committed is abandoned by the Defendant and by those with whom he conspired.

Florida's definition of conspiracy in Florida Statute 777.04(3) likewise recognizes the aspect of an agreement <u>to commit a crime</u>. Under Florida law the well recognized principles governing the admission of co-conspirator statements under Florida Statutes 90.803(18)(e) are: 1) independent proof of the existence of the conspiracy and of the Defendant's participation in it; 2) the

making of the declaration during the course of the conspiracy; and, 3) that the statements were made in furtherance of the conspiracy. <u>Honchell v. State</u>, 257 So.2d 889 (Florida 1971); Farnell v. State, 214 So.2d 753 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968).

All statements offered under this exception were made after the murder occurred. (R-1126, 1130). The State never argued that the conspiracy involved anything other than the murder. The State's argument was that the post murder statements came in because of the activities of the conspirators after the murder. The State acknowledged that no case or point in the Florida law regarding the termination of a conspiracy for the purpose of terminating this hearsay exception had been discovered. (R-1183,1184). Both sides submitted conflicting federal cases on the issue. (R-1182, 1187).

The factual basis for the admission of the post murder statements involved the Co-Defendant Echols' concern with the actions of Defendant NELSON. Clearly the substance of Echols' fear was that Defendant NELSON by his actions would cause events to occur which would expose the prior murder and hurt the Defendant's and that Defendant NELSON might physically hurt Co-Defendant Echols. None of these fears in any way involved events which were involved in the planning of or the commission of the murder. The actions of Echols involved fears arising after the murder and Echols' concern that Defendant NELSON's actions may expose the prior deed. The actions being plotted by Echols to

(13)

Defendant NELSON were to placate the Defendant NELSON in order that the prior murder was not revealed. This results in a concealment type situation in which the State alleges that these post murder statements to conceal the murder result in the conspiracy continuing beyond the attaining of the criminal objective. This situation was confronted by the United States Supreme Court in Krulewitch v. U.S., 336 U.S. 440 (1949). Krulewitch involved an allegation of a conspiracy to transport women across state lines for prostitution purposes. The grant of certiorari in that case was specifically limited to the question of whether certain hearsay statements were made during the course of and in furtherance of the conspiracy. The conversations took place one and one-half months after the transportation of the women and involved an attempt by one of the conspirators to placate another co-conspirator, a situation analogous to Defendant NELSON's case.

Mr. Justice Black, writing for the majority, began his opinion by noting that whatever the conspiracy had been with regard to the transportation of the women, <u>that</u> conspiracy ended long before the conversation took place.

Considering the devastating nature of the conversation in issue, Black questioned why it had been deemed in furtherance of the seemingly completed conspiracy and why it had been allowed into evidence. Justice Black noted the far reaching results of the broad view being offered by the government by stating:

(14)

The Government now asks us to expand this narrow exception to the hearsay rule and hold admissible a declaration, not made in furtherance of an alleged implied but uncharged conspiracy aimed at preventing detection and punishment. . . . The rule contended for by the Government could have far-reaching results. For under this rule plausible arguments could generally be made in conspiracy cases that most out-of-court statements offered in evidence tended to shield co-conspirators. We are not persuaded to adopt the Government's implicit conspiracy theory which in all criminal conspiracy cases would create automatically a further breach of the general rule against the admission of hearsay evidence.

Justice Jackson, in a strongly worded concurrence, agreed with Black as to the ramifications of adopting the government position.

It is difficult to see any logical limit to the "implied conspiracy," either as to duration or means, nor does it appear that one could overcome the implication by express and credible evidence that no such understanding existed, not any way in which an accused against whom the presumption is once raised can terminate the imputed agency of his associates to incriminate him. Conspirators, long after the contemplated offense is complete, after perhaps they have fallen out and become enemies, may still incriminate each other by deliberately harmful, but unsworn declarations, or unintentionally by casual conversations out of court. On the theory that the law will impute to the confederates a continuing conspiracy to defeat justice, one conceivably could be bound by another's unauthorized and <u>unknown commission of perjury, bribery of a</u> <u>juror or witness, or even putting an</u> incorrigible witness with damaging information out of the way. e.a.

See also: <u>Lutwak v. U.S.</u>, 344 U.S. 604 (1953) and <u>Grunewald v.</u> <u>U.S.</u>, 353 U.S. 391 (1957).

The Supreme Court of California confronted the issue of incriminating statements made after a murder for hire plot had been successfully concluded in <u>California v. Leach</u>, 15 Cal.3d 419, 124 California Reporter 752 (1975) <u>cert denied</u> 424 U.S. 926. In <u>Leach</u> (as summarized in <u>Criminal Conspiracies</u>) there were numerous members of the conspiracy. The victim's daughter who was to pay for the killing, a woman who acted as a go between, and the named Defendant and another man who . . .

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