#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

MELVIN NELSON, JR. Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.



#### BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GARY O. WELCH Assistant Attorney General Park Trammell Building 1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804 Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

###

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

-27-

the fingerprint evidence and Echols and the appellant being acquainted. Therefore, the admission would be harmless error.

On cross-examination, the appellant's trial counsel sought to impeach Leonard Adams by suggesting that Mr. Adams had fabricated Mr. Nelson's involvement to increase the amount of the reward and for bias as a result or his pecuniary interest in the outcome of the trial. (R-1299) This theme was also carried into closing argument by the appellant's counsel suggesting that Leonard Adams had made up the appellant's involvment so as to obtain an increased reward and obtain favorable treatment on pending criminal charges in Indiana. (R1525) As such, the taped statements were admissible as rehabilitation to the claims of fabrication <u>Oliver v. State</u>, 442 So.2d 317 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) and would not be hearsay since they were offered for reasons other than for the truth of the matter asserted.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE III

#### WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE JURY TO USE TRANSCRIPTS AS AN AID DURING THE PLAYING OF THE TAPED CONVERSATIONS?

Prior to discussing the merits of the third issue on appeal, the appellee submits that instruction cited by the appellant at page 24 of the appellant's brief is an error attributed to the court reporter.<sup>7</sup> It would be illogical for the trial court to tell the jury to rely on the transcript after informing the jury that the transcript was not evidence and only an aid. (R-1247) Appellee's position is reinforced by the trial court's subsequent instruction at R-1251. However, assuming that trial judges instruction at R1247 was error, this court should accept the trial court's subsequent instruction as being sufficient to cure any error. <u>Menendez v. State</u>, 368 So.2d 1278 at 1280 n.9 (Fla. 1979). Further, the transcript accurately depicted the conversations recorded by tape, and as such, any error would be harmless.

Appellant argues that the use of the transcript resulted in the transcript supplanting the tape in the jury's mind and that the state's questioning about the tape prior to it's playing and the subsequent playing of the tape while the jury had in it's possession a transcript resulted in undue repetition and improper emphasis of the taped evidence.

-29-

Appellee recognizes that the Fourth District has stated in Stanley v. State, 451 So.2d 897 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), that transcripts of tapes admitted into evidence should not be used. However, in Stanley the Fourth District recognized that use of transcripts would be harmless if the transcripts were accurate. Appellee invites this Court to review the copy of the transcript as given to the jury and to compare that transcript with the unedited transcripts of the tapes. Appellee submits that any possible error would be harmless due to the accuracy of the tapes. In Grimes v. State, 244 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1971), this court held that where the state published a transcript to the jury by having it read in open court, the defendant's claim would fail for lack of prejudice where the publishing witness had personally made and authenticated the tape. Sub judice, Leonard Adams, Jim Spiller, and Frederick Moore all attested to the accuracy of the tapes. (R-1509-10); 1228-9; 1245-6) The appellant's objection to the jury receiving the transcripts was on the grounds of 1) the best evidence rule, 2) the transcripts had not been properly authenticated, and 3) that giving the jury the transcripts would give evidentiary value to the transcripts. (R-1221-2) Nowhere is it suggested at trial or on appeal that

-30~

the transcripts were not accurate. The prosecutor responded to the "shotgun" objection by stating that he wasn't sure whether the appellant's counsel was challenging the audibility of the tapes and apprised the trial court of the veracity of the tapes and transcripts as follows: "We have listened to them several times before, and on this equipment, they are quite audible and in conjunction with the transcript". (R-1223) Later on, the trial court recognized that "the intelligible portions" were accurate. (R-1475)

The state argued that the transcript would be of "substantial assistance" to the jury by identifying who was speaking at different times throughout the tape. (R-1223) This use was explicitly approved by the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals in <u>Fountain v. United States</u>, 384 F.2d 624 at 632 (5th Cir. 1967). In <u>Fountain</u> the Fifth Circuit required that the transcript be accurate and that voices in recording be identified by someone with personal knowledge. This is exactly the procedure that was followed sub judice.

The appellant never made an objection to the use of the tapes on the grounds that they supplant the evidence produced by the tapes themselves. As such, the appellant is precluded from raising this issue for the first time on

-31-
appeal. <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978). If this court does review the merits of the claim, the proper scope of review of a claim of unwarranted emphasis is whether the trial court abused it's discretion. <u>United States v. Hall</u>, 342 F.2d 849 (4th Cir. 1965) In <u>Hasam Realty</u> <u>Corporation v. City of Hallandale</u>, 393 So.2d 561 at 562 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) the Fourth District defined an abuse of discretion as arising "when there is no conceivable bases for the decision. Reviewing, the appellants under the <u>Hasam Realty</u> standard, the appellant's claim must fail in light of the accuracy of the transcripts,<sup>8</sup> the assistance provided to the jury and the availability of Leonard Adams for crossexamination.<sup>9</sup>

#### ARGUMENT

## ISSUE IV

# THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL.

Appellant claims that the trial court erred by failing to grant a mistrial as a result of the prosecutor's comment at R-1545 which appellant claims was intended to give the impression that the appellant would kill again if acquitted. (AB-29) This Court has stated that a prosecutor's arguments must be viewed "in the light of the circumstances" of which they were made. State v. Jones, 204 So.2d 515 at 517 (Fla. 1967). Accordingly, when the complained of comment is reviewed in the context of the appellant's previous arguments<sup>10</sup> it is clear that the prosecutor's comment was in fact a statement proposing that the evidence provide sufficient proof of the appellant's guilt and that if the law was as the appellant's counsel had argued a criminal defendant would have to be acquitted even though there was sufficient evidence of his guilt because there was no first hand knowledge of the appellant being at the Baskovich residence. Since the prosecutor's comment was not one which suggests that the appellant would kill again if acquitted when viewed in the context in which it was said, the trial court did not err in granting the appellant's motion for a mistrial.

-33-

Appellant argues that the prosecutor's comment that the fingerprint evidence was uncontradicted was a comment on the appellant's failure to testify and that it implied that the appellant had to make showing, contrary to law which imposes the burden upon the state and not on the criminal defendant. However, the appellant's argument is contrary to the long standing position of this court that permits the prosecutor to comment on "uncontradicted or uncontroverted nature of the evidence during argument to the jury." White v. State, 377 So.2d 1149 at 1150 (Fla. 1980). As for the last sentence of the comment which is cited by the appellant ("There is no other evidence." [R-1559 AB 30]), this was a product of defense counsel's objection which interrupted the prosecutor. As such, it was created by the appellant and should not merit relief under the invited error doctrine. Sullivan v. State, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974) Furthermore, a review of the completed statement by the prosecutor after the objection and the court's ruling (R-1560) discloses that the statement does render it susceptible to being interpreted as referring to the appellant's failure to testify or present evidence. As such, the prosecutor's comment was not improper and the trial court did not err by denying the appellant's motion for a mistrial.

-34-

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE V

#### WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY IMPOSING A DEATH SENTENCE AFTER THE JURY RECOMMENDED LIFE.

Appellant cites Stromberg v. California, 283 U.S. 359 (1931) for the position that felony murder by the jury is "constitutionally mandated". (AB-32) From this point the appellant argues that since the jury returned a verdict of felony murder, the jury must have determined that the appellant was not the triggerman, and as such, the trial judge erred by overriding the jury recommendation of life since there was a reasonable basis for the rejection of the death penalty. The appellant's contention that jury finding of felony murder is mandated by the constitution is completely without merit. Stromberger was strictly concerned with facial validity of a California statute when attacked on first amendment and due process grounds. Secondly, the appellant's claim that the jury found felony murder is extravagently speculative and contrary to all the evidence. The appellant's use of small portions of Leonard Adams' testimony, taken out of context, is substantially misleading. Rather than give a syllogistic explanation of Leonard Adams testimony in this brief to refute the appellant's shallow evidentiary claims, appellee submits that the tape conversations dispositively refute the interpretation urged by the

-35-

appellant. (R1985) Appellee's position is bolstered by the jury's finding that the appellant carried a gun. (R206)

Appellant argues that there was no evidence that the appellant carried the gun which was thrown out and that Echols stated that he (Echols) threw the gun out near the scene. Again, the appellant distorts the record. During the guilt phase, Faye Baskovich testified that one of the criminals carried a club and the other carried a gun. The billy club gun was recovered from the Echol's residence. (R1072,1655) To find that the appellant was not the killer would require that all tape conversations be completely disregarded and that Echols carried and discarded the handgun while also obtaining the billy club shotgun from the appellant after the crime and transporting it back to his residence in Indiana. This is illogical and without record support. If the billy club shotgun was not the club testified to by Faye Baskovich, there was only one gun used in the commission of the crime and the jury found that the appellant carried that gun. (R206) Furthermore, Echols never stated that he threw the gun out, but rather, that the gun was thrown out.<sup>12</sup>

Appellant claims that trial court never considered the <u>Enmund</u> issue in sentencing the appellant. <u>Enmund v. Florida</u>, 458 U.S. 782 (1982). However, the trial court was apprised of this issue and rejected it's application. In <u>Enmund</u> the United States Supreme Court held that the imposition of a death sentence upon one "who aids and abets a felony but

-36-

who does not himself kill, attempt to kill, or intend that a killing take place or that lethal force will be employed" violates the Eighth Amendment. Enmund at 788. The inapplicability of Enmund is obvious on numerous grounds. First, the trial court found that the appellant was the triggerman. Secondly, even if the appellant was not the triggerman, the fact that Nelson and Echols waited for Baskovich to leave his restaurant and followed him (Baskovich) home disputes the claim on appeal that the appellant's only desire was to burglarize the Baskovich residence and provides evidence that the murder of Baskovich was essential for both Nelson and Echols. As for the appellant's claim that the argument outside the Baskovich residence was a result of the appellant being disturbed by the killing of Baskovich, appellee submits that the evidence would suggest that the appellant was upset at the absence of the money at the Baskovich residence which was to be the appellant's compensation for the murder.

Appellant claims that the trial court relied on nonstatutory aggravating factors. A review of the appellant's citations revealed that factors complained of were 1) statutory findings required to be made by the trial court prior to retaining jurisdiction over a defendant's sentence,

-37-

2) used to show the lack of evidentiary support for (negation of) the statutory mitigating factors, 3) elements of statutory aggravating factors, or 4) not considered by the trial court in determining the propriety of the death sentence.<sup>13</sup> Dr. Afield's report was used to rebute the mitigating factor of diminished capacity. (R345) As such, the appellant's complaint about the lack of <u>Miranda</u> warning and reliance on <u>Estelle v. Smith</u>, 451 U.S. 454 (1981) is without merit. Alternatively, the appellant's failure to raise the <u>Miranda</u> issue or Dr. Afield's use of the prosecutor's memorandum precludes the issue from being raised for the first time on appeal. <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978); Wainwright v. Sykes, 433 U.S. 72 (1977).

Appellee concedes that the standard of review of a trial court's override of a jury recommendation of life is whether the facts suggesting the sentence of death are so clear that virtually no reasonable person could differ. <u>Tedder</u> <u>v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975). In <u>Parker v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1984) this court held that where there were four legitimate aggravating factors and no mitigating factors the <u>Tedder</u> standard had been met and the trial court's jury override would be affirmed. <u>Sub judice</u>, there were three statutory aggravating factors and no mitigating factors. As such, the trial imposition of the death penalty over the jury

-38-

recommendation of life was proper. Parker, supra.

Appellant concedes that contract killings are properly found to be within the scope of the statutory aggravating factor of cold, calculated and premeditated. (AB-41) However, the appellant argues that the application of this aggravating factor is improper where the defendant is not the triggerman and not present in a felony murder setting. This argument is without merit in light of the trial court's finding of premeditated murder and the appellant as the triggerman.<sup>14</sup> (R-342) The appellant's complaint about the admission of the video tape is without merit since the trial judge did not use it as a basis for determining the appellant's sentence.<sup>15</sup>

### FOOTNOTES

<sup>1</sup> The general rule is that face-to-face confrontation and the use of cross-examination provides accuracy in the fact finding process. Since face to face confrontations and cross-examination are aspects of the Confrontation Clause whose purpose is to insure truthfulness of testimony, the exclusion of evidence which is unquestionably truthful and accurate would not be mandated by purposes behind the face-to-face confrontation and cross-examination aspects of the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment. Therefore, "certain hearsay exceptions (that rests upon such solid foundations that admission of virtually any evidence within them comports with the substance of the constitutional protection. <u>Robert</u>, 448 at 66 citing <u>Mattox v.</u> U.S., 156 at 244, 39 L.Ed. 409, 15 S.Ct. 337 (1885)

<sup>2</sup> Appellee submits that tape # 1 would also be admissible under the co-conspirator exception to the hearsay rule. As for this point, Appellee will rely on its argument in Issue II of this brief.

<sup>3</sup> Robert Echols' statement obviously subject him to criminal liability. Further, the last sentence in 90.804 was meant to codify the <u>Bruton v. U.S.</u>, 391 U.S. 123, 20 L.Ed.2d 476, 88 S.Ct. 1620 (1968). Since <u>Bruton</u> was a Confrontation Clause decision and the admission of a co-conspirator's declarations do not offend the Confrontations Clause, <u>Dutton v. Evans</u>, 400 U.S. 74, 27 L.Ed.2d 213, 91 S.Ct. 210 (1970), the last sentence would not

-40-

preclude the admission of the statements by Robert Echols because they are not offensive to the Confrontation Clause. ... Stated in another manner, the last sentence of 90.804 is a codification of confrontation clause requirements, and as such, should not preclude the declarations of Robert Echol since they are not vilative of the Confrontation Clause.

<sup>4</sup> Appellee disputes the Appellant representation that the state never argued that conspiracy involved "anything other than the murder." Rather, the state argues in the alternative throughout the evidentiay issues. Furthermore, as a matter of historical appellate law, the Appellee is not burdened with the same waiver and procedural default bars that an Appellant bears and a trial court rulings will be upheld on appeal if there are valid reasons for its ruling which weren't raised below.

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